

It Environnement Canada Service de la protection de l'environnement

&

TD 182.4 B7 G37

v.3

C.2

Canadä

0

1

E

G

Ν

EL2044947B



TD 182.4 BT G3T V.3 C.2

DEPARTMENT OF THE ENVIRONMENT ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION SERVICE PACIFIC AND YUKON REGION

## CHEMICALS IN THE ENVIRONMENT PACIFIC AND YUKON REGION

III. POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (PCBs)

By

C.L. Garrett

February, 1985

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
1.	INTRODUCTION		1
2.	USES AND SOURCES OF RELEASE		2
3.	ENVIRONMENTAL DYNAMICS		3
4.	ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS		4
4.1	Aquatic Systems		4
4.1.1	Water		4
4.1.2	Sediments	n en	5
4.1.3	Aquatic Organisms		7
4.1.3.1	Uptake		7
4.1.3.2	Levels		8
4.1.3.3	Toxicity		10
4.2	Terrestrial Systems		. 11
4.2.1	Atmosphere	-	11
4.2.2	Soil and Vegetation		12
4.2.3	Wildlife		13
4.2.3.1	Toxicity		15
5.	REGULATIONS AND GUIDELINES		17
5.1	Water Quality	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	17
5.2	Human Health		17
5.3	Ocean Disposal		17
5.4	Industrial Effluents and Emi	ssions	18

REFERENCES

19

## INTRODUCTION

This report is one in a series entitled "Chemicals in the Environment - Pacific and Yukon Region" prepared by the Environmental Protection Service. The objective of these reports is to provide the technical guidance necessary for: a) the interpretation of environmental quality data on specific chemicals, and b) the assessment of potential impacts resulting from the release of these chemicals into the environment.

1.

The series will focus on both naturally occurring and man-made compounds whose release to the environment is of concern due to their persistence, toxicity and/or bioaccumulative abilities.

These reports discuss highlights of existing environmental quality data for B.C. and Yukon and provide information on environmental dynamics, potential impacts on the environment, and pertinent legislation and guidelines controlling both releases to the receiving environment and environmental quality.

This report is adapted from Garrett, C.L., "An Overview of PCBs and their Current Status in British Columbia", Environmental Protection Service, Pacific and Yukon Region, Regional Program Report 80-16 (1983). For additional information refer to this document.

1.

## USES AND SOURCES OF RELEASE

PCBs are a class of synthetic chlorinated hydrocarbons whose commercial formulations in North America are referred to by the trade name Aroclor. In the past PCBs were used extensively in such products as plastics, inks, carbonless copypaper, paints, pesticides, investment casting waxes and as dielectric, hydraulic, high temperature lubricating and heat transfer fluids. Due to increasing awareness of their environmental hazards, the manufacture of PCBs in North America was terminated in the early 1970's and the allowable uses have been severely restricted.

- 2 -

The greatest volume of PCB in use in British Columbia is in electrical equipment. Current PCB losses associated with electrical equipment may occur as a result of malfunctioning or damage; spillage during routine servicing; or as a result of improper disposal.

Very little information is available on PCB releases from industrial facilities in British Columbia. In 1977, sampling was conducted at specific B.C. oil refineries, mines, smelters, chemical manufacturing plants, pulp mills and a coal bulk loading facility. PCBs were not detectable in most discharges.

Sewage treatment plants have been identified as significant contributors of PCBs to the environment (1, 2, 3, 4). A survey of sewage treatment plants in British Columbia in 1976 revealed low PCB levels in discharges from all plants, with the highest levels occurring at plants which receive large amounts of industrial wastes (5). PCB concentrations in B.C. sewage treatment plant effluents were low in comparison to plants from more heavily industrialized areas of North America.

2.

#### ENVIRONMENTAL DYNAMICS

Upon entering the environment, PCBs accumulate in various media at concentrations which are influenced by a variety of factors. Partitioning of PCBs between surface waters and bottom sediments depends upon such variables as salinity, amount of suspended matter, particle size, organic content and sediment characteristics.

- 3 -

PCBs have very low solubilities and receiving water concentrations are often below or near detection levels even in highly contaminated areas.

High levels of PCBs occasionally detected in surface waters are associated primarily with suspended solids. The transport of this material by tidal action and water currents can result in the spread of contamination to areas removed from the point of PCB entry. It is reported that suspended sediments contained PCBs at concentrations 4 to 10 times higher than did bottom sediments (6). This observation is probably associated with the fact that suspended sediments generally have a much smaller grain size than do bottom sediments.

Much of the particulate matter does eventually settle out of the water column and is deposited in the bottom sediments. Sediments in highly industrialized areas serve as a reservoir for PCBs. For this reason PCBs present a long term environmental hazard. Upon release to the environment PCBs can persist for many years or even decades (7).

The analysis of environmental samples shows a preponderance of isomers with five or more chlorine atoms (8). This is probably due, at least in part, to the greater resistance of the higher chlorinated biphenyls to bacterial degradation.

When not in contact with particulate matter or bottom sediments, chlorinated hydrocarbons (including PCBs) tend to concentrate at the airwater interface (9, 10, 11) and volatilization to the atmosphere may occur.

3.

## 4. ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS

4.1 Aquatic Systems

#### 4.1.1 Water.

#### General

Due to the low solubilities of PCBs in water, seriously elevated concentrations in surface waters are rarely reported. PCBs preferentially adhere to particulate matter in the water column and the actual concentrations of dissolved PCB in aquatic systems are normally far below estimated saturation levels.

The solubilities of the individual PCB isomers vary with the position of the chlorine atoms and decrease with increasing chlorination. For this reason the lower chlorinated isomers are present in higher concentrations in the water column than are the higher chlorinated isomers (12, 13, 14, 15).

Leaching from heavily contaminated sediments can cause elevated water concentrations at the sediment/water interface, even when PCB discharges to the area have ceased (16, 17).

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) water quality objectives for the protection of marine and freshwater aquatic life are 0.030 ug/l and 0.014 ug/l PCB, respectively (18).

There are currently no national Canadian water quality guidelines for PCBs, however, some provinces have defined objectives for this group of chemicals.

#### British Columbia

No data were available for marine waters off British Columbia. PCBs have not been detected in the vast majority of the freshwater systems sampled (5).

In the few water systems where PCBs were detected, their presence was usually attributed to past spills or leaks from electrical equipment.

## 4.1.2 Sediments.

## General

Concentrations in sediments depend on the composition of the sediments and their adsorbing capacity. Sediments and soils with high organic clay content have a high adsorbency potential for PCBs while sand does not (9). The degree of adsorption also increases with increasing chlorination of the PCB molecule and is, therefore, inversely related to the solubility of the PCB isomer. There is also some indication that adsorption of PCBs to sediments increases with increasing salinity (19).

: 4.4

5

High sediment levels have been detected in the vicinity of accidental spills and point source discharges from electrical equipment manufacturers, and industries utilizing such equipment; paper recycling plants; and municipal waste treatment facilities.

Sediments collected several years ago near two electrical equipment manufacturers in the eastern United States contained over 1000 mg/kg PCB (20, 21). Concentrations of up to 10 mg/kg have been detected in the bottom sediments near large municipal wastewater outfalls along coastal southern California (22).

Harbour areas often contain particularly high levels of PCBs. The continual discharges into these water systems, the water current patterns and the inadequate flushing of these sheltered areas tend to confine pollution to the low energy regions of harbours. PCB levels in Baltimore Harbour were between 1.0 and 2.0 mg/kg at most locations although a concentration of 84 mg/kg was detected in one sample (23).

#### British Columbia

High sediment concentrations, often exceeding 1.0 mg/kg dry weight, have been detected off certain industrial facilities in British Columbia (5). In many instances this contamination has probably resulted from leaks or spills from PCB-containing electrical or hydraulic equipment. While there are no capacitor, transformer or hydraulic equipment manufacturing plants in British Columbia, PCB releases from such equipment may occur during routine use, servicing, malfunction, and as a result of inadequate disposal.

For example, leakage from equipment containing PCBs is thought to be the source of the moderately elevated PCB levels in the sediments adjacent to several pulp and paper mills in the province.

PULP MILL LOCATION	PCB CONCENTRATION (mg/kg dry weight)		
Harmac	0.007 to 1.5		
Port Alberni	0.01 to 5.5		
Powell River	0.01 to 1.7		
Woodfibre	0.01 to 4.5		
False Creek	0.01 to 3.9		

Very high levels of PCBs in the sediments of Porpoise Harbour near Prince Rupert were detected following the malfunction of a PCB filled transformer at a local pulp mill. A concentration of 75000 mg/kg was detected in sediments from the immediate spill site. Contaminated sediments were capped to prevent contact with aquatic organisms.

Many plants have recently taken preventative measures to eliminate or reduce releases to the environment and, in most instances, the faulty equipment responsible for these elevated environmental levels is no longer in use. For this reason, the contamination detected in the receiving environments of many of these industries may be a result of historical rather than current releases.

Elevated PCB concentrations have also been detected throughout Burrard Inlet with particularly high concentrations occurring in the vicinity of shipbuilding and ship repair facilities. For example, PCB

- 6 -

concentrations of up to 16.8 mg/kg were detected in sediments off the Bayshore Inn in Coal Harbour. This contamination may be attributable to the past use of PCB-containing marine paints and/or leaks and spills from electrical and hydraulic equipment at shipyards located in this general vicinity.

The sources of PCBs in other areas of Burrard Inlet have not been identified but this water system receives sewer wastes, atmospheric fallout, effluent discharges and runoff from numerous industries as well as extensive marine traffic. Concentrations of up to 3.6 mg/kg PCB have also been detected in the bottom sediments of Victoria's Inner Harbour. Although no point sources have yet been identified, Victoria Harbour receives inputs similar to those described for Vancouver Harbour (Burrard Inlet), but on a smaller scale.

In 1976, a paper recycling plant in Burnaby was identified as a significant source of PCB release to the Fraser River (24). Levels of up to 1 mg/kg dry weight were identified in the sediments immediately adjacent the plant. At this time it was expected that, as old supplies of PCB-containing paper were used up in the recycling process, PCB releases and environmental levels would decrease. However, subsequent monitoring by EPS in 1979 indicated that both effluent releases and sediment concentrations were of a greater magnitude than indicated by the 1976 sampling. Sediments adjacent to the outfall contained 1.5 mg/kg.

Improved pollution control measures at the plant have now reduced PCB releases substantially to meet allowable limits.

#### 4.1.3 Aquatic Organisms.

#### General

4.1.3.1 <u>Uptake</u>. Aquatic organisms can accumulate PCBs directly from the water and sediments or via the food chain.

- / -

The relative contribution of food to PCB body burdens in fish varies significantly between water systems and is dependent on the PCB concentrations in food sources (25, 26, 27).

The potential for the uptake of PCBs into local biota exists even in aquatic systems where PCB inputs are low. Detectable levels of PCB in tissues of aquatic organisms have been reported in systems far removed from obvious sources of PCB release and in areas where ambient water concentrations are close to, or below, the limits of detection. Aquatic organisms can rapidly accumulate tissue residue levels many thousands of times higher than water concentrations.

Amphipods and other invertebrates accumulate particularly high concentrations of lower chlorinated compounds (tri- and tetra- isomers). In studies with fish, however, the highly chlorinated PCB compounds (pentaand hexa- isomers) were often accumulated more readily and eliminated much more slowly than were the lower chlorinated isomers (28, 29, 30).

The half life of PCB in rainbow trout increases with the chlorination of the compound (31). It has been estimated that PCBs may persist in fish tissues for approximately 3 months after removal from contaminated environments (32). As a result of studies on PCB uptake and elimination in fish, it has been concluded that the capability of fish to metabolize PCB was low in comparison to mammals (33).

4.1.3.2 <u>Levels</u>. PCB levels in tissues of aquatic organisms are influenced by such factors as species, age, feeding habits and specific behavioural patterns as well as the concentration and exposure time (34) and temperature (35). In general, older individuals, as well as bottom and detritus feeders, tend to accumulate higher levels of PCBs (36).

The highest levels of PCB and other lipophilic compounds are found in the livers and adipose tissue due to the high lipid content of these tissues (31, 36, 37). Studies on the uptake of PCBs by fish showed the greatest retention in the liver followed by the gills, heart, brain and muscle (38). High concentrations have also been found in the hepatopancreas of shrimp (39) and lobster (40) from contaminated areas.

#### British Columbia

Information on current levels of PCB in fish and aquatic invertebrates in British Columbia is limited (5).

0\_

Two major sampling programs, one in 1973 and the other in 1980, have provided data on PCB concentrations in numerous fish species from several areas of the Fraser River. Mean PCB levels in fish species sampled in the Fraser River were well below the Health and Welfare guideline of 2 ppm. The highest levels were generally present in the North Arm which is the most industrialized region of the Fraser River. This finding indicated that industrial development and urbanization in the Greater Vancouver area has contributed PCBs to the Fraser River.

In 1980 PCB residues in muscle tissue of fish from the North Arm ranged from less than 0.1 to 0.8 mg/kg. PCB levels were below the limits of detection in all species collected from other areas of the Fraser River.

Preliminary sampling in the Fraser River estuary region indicates that PCB levels in bottom fish and crab were higher in Sturgeon Bank than in Roberts Bank.

Sampling in the Sturgeon Bank area revealed that PCB levels in crabs decrease with increasing distance from the Iona Island sewage treatment plant outfall. Additional monitoring is required to determine the extent to which PCB levels in Sturgeon Bank biota are influenced by discharges from the nearby sewage treatment plant. From the limited data available, however, the PCB concentrations in biota collected near the plant outfall appear to be lower than the levels detected in biota near sewage outfalls in southern California.

Information on PCB levels in aquatic invertebrates from other areas of British Columbia is very limited, but the available data indicate that levels are well below the 2 mg/kg guideline (5).

4.1.3.3 <u>Toxicity</u>. Acute toxicities of PCBs to aquatic organisms appear to be related to their solubilities and hence are indirectly proportional to the relative chlorine content of the mixture. Due to the insoluble nature of the highly chlorinated isomers, even toxicity tests using Aroclors comprised largely of highly chlorinated isomers may reflect the toxicity of the more soluble lower chlorinated components (41). The toxicities of commercial PCB formulations may also vary according to the presence of chlorinated dibenzofurans or other toxic impurities.

Many freshwater and estuarine organisms, particularly invertebrates, exhibit extreme sensitivity to PCBs as indicated by the seven day  $LC_{50}$  tests for the following species: grass shrimp, 3 ug/l; crayfish, 30 to 100 ug/l; and dragonfly, 800 to 1000 ug/l (42). Freshwater crustaceans are very sensitive to low concentrations of PCBs. Exposure to 1.0 ug/l or more Aroclor 1254 decreased populations of arthropods, amphipods, bryozoans, crabs and molluscs.

The exposure of aquatic organisms to PCBs experimentally has resulted in reproductive impairments and productivity and hatchability failures in: <u>Daphnia</u>, <u>Gammarus</u> and <u>Tanytarsus</u> at water concentrations of less than 1 ug/l (43); Atlantic salmon eggs containing 0.4 to 1.9 ug/l (44); in striped bass eggs containing concentrations of up to 1.8 ug/l (45); and in fathead minnows at water concentrations of 0.9 ug/l (42). PCB inhibits growth in marine diatoms at concentrations as low as 10 to 25 ug/l, and in fathead minnows and flagfish at 2.2 ug/l (46). Oyster shell growth was inhibited by 59% at a concentration of 10 ug/l Aroclor 1254 (24). PCBs have also been shown to affect liver enzyme responses (47) and to interfere with predator/prey interactions (48) and limb regeneration (49).

Significant amounts of PCBs are transferred from female fish to their eggs. In contaminated areas this could be important in influencing egg and fry survival (50).

A mortality rate of 10-28% was observed in rainbow trout eggs containing 0.39 ug/kg Aroclor 1254 (51). The threshold concentration for salmon egg mortality is approximately 0.5 ug/kg, which is equivalent to a whole fish concentration of approximately 2.5 to 5.0 ug/kg (52). Studies with Baltic flounder indicate that PCB concentrations above 120 ug/l in eggs can result in decreased survival of developing eggs and larvae (53).

## 4.2 Terrestrial Systems

#### 4.2.1 Atmosphere.

#### General

Disposal in municipal dumps and attempts at destruction in conventional incinerators may result in vaporization of PCBs and subsequent emission into the atmosphere. Wind currents would carry these aerosols considerable distances, contaminating areas many miles from the source in amounts partially dependent upon regional rainfall (54, 55). The presence of PCBs in open ocean and arctic ecosystems has been attributed mainly to atmospheric transport.

Data collected from eastern Canada confirm suspicions that municipal incinerators release measureable amounts of PCBs into the atmosphere. The majority of PCB was found to be in gaseous form rather than associated with particulate matter, and total PCB concentrations were  $1.32 \text{ ng/m}^3$  in a research community, 0.82 to  $2.88 \text{ ng/m}^3$  in a heavily urban-industrialized area, and 1.85 to  $9.30 \text{ ng/m}^3$  downwind from a municipal incinerator (56).

It has been shown that approximately 80-100% of the PCBs in the atmosphere are in the vapour phase (57). PCBs associated with atmospheric particulates are usually adsorbed to submicrometer size particles (58).

PCB concentrations of 0.4 to 3.0  $ng/m^3$  and 10 to 150 ng/l were detected in the air and the precipitation, respectively, from the Great Lakes area (59).

Studies indicate that atmospheric deposition is the main source of PCB input to the upper Great Lakes (Lake Superior and Lake Michigan) and a significant source to the other lakes. It has been estimated that atmospheric PCB inputs to Lake Superior and Lake Michigan are 6300 to 8000 kg/year and 5000 to 6000 kg/year, respectively (59).

## British Columbia

No information was available on PCB levels in the air and precipitation of British Columbia. However, in 1983 it was reported that

- 11 -

emissions from the incinerator at Royal Jubilee Hospital in Victoria released approximately 26 mg PCB/hr. (60).

## 4.2.2 Soil and Vegetation.

## General

PCBs do not occur naturally in the environment and detectable levels in soils occur as a result of spills, industrial releases, atmospheric transport or application of sewage.

Monitoring throughout the United States indicates that soils from agricultural areas rarely contain detectable levels of PCB. Although PCBs were frequently detected in soils from urban areas, concentrations were usually less than 1 mg/kg (61).

In general PCBs are stable in soils and are not readily leached. However, their mobility in soil and availability for uptake into vegetation is influenced by various soil characteristics including organic matter content, total clay content, pH, temperature, water content, and particle size distribution. Leaching and mobility of PCBs is encouraged by low organic matter and clay content, high water content, elevated temperature and large particle size. An increase in pH in organic soil may increase PCB mobilization by solubilizing humic materials and releasing associated PCBs (62).

The lower chlorinated PCB isomers are more water soluble and less tightly adsorbed to soil particles than the higher chlorinated forms. For these reasons they are also more mobile in soil (62).

PCBs may be lost from soil by both volatilization and microbial degradation, with losses from these routes being more pronounced for lower chlorinated compounds (63).

PCB uptake into terrestrial vegetation occurs through the root system and through transport across the epidermal layers of the foliage and stems.

Uptake by plants is determined by both PCB concentration and mobility in soils. Levels in plants tend to increase with increasing soil concentrations. The fact that the lower chlorinated isomers are more mobile in soil make them more accessible for uptake into vegetation.

Significant differences between uptake into various plant species have been noted. Carrots are particularly efficient at accumulating lipophilic compounds such as PCBs. Plant roots, in general, tend to accumulate higher levels of PCB than do plant tops, however, it is possible that this may be due to PCB adsorption to the root surface rather than to absorption (62).

#### British Columbia

The only available information on PCB levels in soils from B.C. was obtained from spill sites, where samples were highly contaminated, often containing over 1000 mg/kg. No information was available to indicate typical levels of PCB in soils and vegetation from agricultural or urban areas of the province.

## 4.2.3 Wildlife.

#### General

Certain wildlife species, particularly fish-eating birds and aquatic mammals, accumulate high levels of PCBs in their tissues (64, 65, 66).

White-tailed eagles from Stockholm, Sweden contained 240 mg/kg and 17000 mg/kg PCB in pectoral muscle and fat, respectively (67). Gull eggs from Lake Ontario and Lake Michigan in the 1970's contained 134 mg/kg and 249 mg/kg PCB, respectively (68). In 1983, PCB concentrations of up to 7 mg/kg were detected in the eggs of Norwegian seabirds with the highest levels occurring in Herring gull (69). Herring gulls collected on Lake Michigan in the late 1970's also contained higher levels of PCBs than did other species of waterbirds. Concentrations of up to 160 mg/kg were detected in the eggs of this species (70). The ban on the manufacture and most uses of PCBs in many countries has contributed to declining PCB levels in many waterbird populations (71). Measurable levels of PCB have been detected in mammals from most areas of the world. Polar bears, arctic fox, and wild sheep from Greenland contained 21, 2.8 and 1.2 mg/kg PCB, respectively (72). Significant PCB levels have been detected in marine mammals, particularly in the fat/blubber, liver, and kidney (73, 74, 75, 76).

#### British Columbia

Most of the information on PCB levels in birds was collected in the 1960's and 70's. Elevated PCB levels were detected in a wide range of fish-eating birds including those listed in Table 1 (22).

Ŋ

Owls, hawks, Passerines and Galliformes from B.C. all contained very low or undetectable levels of PCBs.

Similarly, PCB levels were below the detection limit in almost all tissue samples obtained from ungulates from the Cache Creek area of B.C. No information was available for PCB levels in fish-eating mammals (24).

## 4.2.3.1 Toxicity.

#### Birds

Although  $LD_{50}$  values for most avian species are quite high (usually several hundred ppm), PCBs may contribute to reproductive impairment in birds through reduced hatchability (77), behavioural modifications (78, 79, 80, 81), decreased egg production (82) and embryo abnormalities (77, 82). Abnormalities associated with unhatched embryos include; edema, unabsorbed yolk (77), the inability of chicks to break the shell and emerge (78, 82) and leg, toe and neck deformities (82).

Most of the toxic effects of PCBs have been observed in laboratory situations. Very little information is available on the effects of PCBs on wild populations. It is very difficult to isolate the toxic effects of each contaminant, due to the fact that wild birds are usually exposed to, and accumulate, multiple contaminants. High levels of PCBs and

90°

- 14 -

SPECIES	LOCATION	DATE	TISSUE	MEAN PCB Content <sup>1</sup>
· · · ·				CUNIENI-
Fork-tailed Petrel	Skedans Island	1970	Egg	15.2
Common Murre	Danger Reef	1972	Fat	26.55
Pelagic Cormorant	Mittlenatch Is.	1970	Egg	5.36
Brandt's Cormorant	Ganges Harbour	1972	Fat	43.45
Double-crested				
Cormorant	Mandarte Island	1970	Egg	14.0
Western Grebe	Duck Lake	1969 <sup>-</sup>	Fat	46.5
Western Grebe	Captain Passage	1972	Fat	44.65
Great Blue Heron	Kootenay River	1969	Egg	12.97
Great Blue Heron	Victoria	1972	Liver	13.28
Great Blue Heron	Coquitlam	1977	Egg	14.9
Great Blue Heron	UBC Endowment	· ·		
	Lands	1978	Egg	21.4
Merlin <sup>2</sup>	Lower Mainland		Egg	8.64
Peregrine Falcon	Langara Island	1968	Egg	7.03
		1969	Chick	3.24
Bald-headed Eagle	Port Hardy	1974	Subcut. Fat	9.64
		1975	Visceral Fat	4.80
Bald-headed Eagle	Saanich	1972	Subcut. Fat	22.84
			Visceral Fat	59.67

<sup>1</sup>mg/kg wet weight

<sup>2</sup>expressed in mg/kg dry weight

DDE, for instance, often occur in the same bird colonies. Whereas population declines, when identified, are more commonly attributed to the eggshell thinning effects of DDE (83), PCBs are sometimes suspected of contributing to reproductive abnormalities. For instance, researchers have speculated that the severe reproductive impairment in herring gulls from the Great Lakes was due to the high levels of PCBs, DDE and other toxic contaminants. Eggs from these colonies contained PCB levels higher than those shown to be toxic to poultry (10-15 mg/kg dry weight in the whole egg) (83).

The level of PCB exposure causing toxic effects varies significantly depending on species sensitivities and the length of exposure, but several effects have been noted in birds fed 10-50 mg/kg PCB for several weeks.

Some researchers have shown a positive correlation between death and PCB levels of over 300 mg/kg in certain species of birds (81, 84, 85, 86).

Chlorinated dibenzofurans, which are present as impurities in commercial PCB formulations, are highly toxic and may be responsible, at least in part, for some of the toxic effects of PCBs (87).

#### Mammals

PCBs generally have a low acute toxicity to most mammalian species, however, some species (such as mink) exhibit an extreme sensitivity to low levels in the diet. A decline in the reproductive success of commercially reared mink was ultimately attributed to the high PCB concentrations in the Great Lakes coho salmon which comprised approximately 30% of their diet (88, 89). Experiments on the dietary effects of PCBs on mink demonstrated that 10-30 ppm Aroclor 1254 in the diet was fatal, while 5-10 ppm inhibited reproduction and 1 ppm significantly reduced reproductive success (90).

Toxic symptoms observed in poisoned mink included anorexia, liver and kidney damage, and internal hemorrhaging (88). Organochlorine pesticides and PCBs are also suspected of contributing to the decreased reproductive success of California sea lions (91) and ringed seals from the Baltic Sea (92). Premature births and unusually high organochlorine pesticide and PCB residues were observed in California sea lions from San Miguel Island. In Baltic ringed seals only 27% of an expected 80-90% of the reproductively mature females were pregnant at the time of inspection. Elevated DDT and PCB levels were detected in non-pregnant female ringed seals as were uterine abnormalities. The findings were indicative of fetal resorption or abortion. It is possible that these effects are due to exposure to a combination of contaminants which may act synergistically. Simultaneous exposure to DDT or dieldrin intensifies the toxic effects of PCB to mink (93).

The most commonly reported effect of dietary exposure to PCBs is liver damage. Some of the other toxic effects observed in experimental animals include; decreased mating (94), increased offspring mortality (94), pulmonary congestion (95), internal hemmorhaging (95), porphyria (96, 97), atrophy of thymus and spleen (98, 99), increased susceptability to disease (98, 99), and the formation of neoplastic and pre-neoplastic lesions (94, 100, 101).

5.

#### REGULATIONS AND GUIDELINES

The current regulations and guidelines pertaining to PCBs in the aquatic environment are as follows:

5.1 Water Quality

At present there are no Canadian water quality criteria or guidelines for acceptable concentrations of PCBs in surface waters.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency water quality objectives for the protection of aquatic life are 0.014 ug/l for freshwater systems and 0.030 ug/l for marine systems (18).

- 17 -

## 5.2 Human Health

Health and Welfare Canada has established a guideline of 2 mg/kg (wet weight) as an acceptable level of PCBs in fish and shellfish intended for human consumption.

## 5.3 Ocean Disposal

Acceptable levels of PCBs in materials destined for ocean disposal have been established under the <u>Ocean Dumping Control Act</u>. PCBs are listed under Schedule 1 of the Act which states that the maximum quantity or concentration of PCBs (or other organohalogen compounds) in materials to be ocean disposed must not exceed "0.01 parts of the concentration shown to be toxic to marine animal and plant sensitive organisms in a bioassay sample and test carried out in accordance with procedures established or approved by the Minister".

## 5.4 Industrial Effluents and Emissions

Regulations governing the use of PCBs in Canada have been developed under the Environmental Contaminants Act and are designed to control PCB release by industrial facilities. Chlorobiphenyl Regulation No. 1 (introduced in 1977 and amended in 1980) prohibits most non-electrical uses of PCBs. This regulation is meant to stop all new entry of PCB equipment into the marketplace; ban the use of PCB-filled electromagnets over food or animal feed; restrict existing uses to totally enclosed electrical equipment which, under normal operation conditions, does not present a threat to human health or environmental quality; and eliminate existing stocks of make-up or bulk dielectric fluids to minimize occupational exposure and spills of PCBs during maintenance or servicing activities.

Chlorobiphenyl Regulations No. 2 and No. 3 became effective August 1, 1985. These regulations were developed to control the release of PCBs to the environment and to restrict the sale of existing equipment containing PCBs.

## 18 -

The release of deleterious substances into waters frequented by fish is prohibited by Section 33(2) of the federal <u>Fisheries Act</u>. In a 1977 precedent setting case PCBs were proved to be a deleterious substance as described by the Act and a B.C. pulp mill was charged and convicted under Section 33(2). This was the first time the <u>Fisheries Act</u> had been used in Canada to prosecute a release of PCBs into the environment.

The level of PCBs in specific industrial effluents and atmospheric emissions can also be controlled under provisions contained in the British Columbia Waste Management Act.

## REFERENCES

- 20 -

 Young, D.R., D.J. McDermott and T.C. Heesen, "Marine Inputs of Polychlorinated Biphenyls off Southern California", Proc. of Nat'l Conf. on PCBs, Nov. 19-21, 1975, Chicago, NTIS PB-253 248, (1976).

- 2. Schmidt, T.T., R.W. Risebrough and F. Gress, "Input of Polychlorinated Biphenyls into California Coastal Water from Urban Sewage Outfalls", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 6(3); 235-243 (1971).
- Lawrence J. and H.M. Tosine, "Polychlorinated Biphenyl Concentrations in Sewage and Sludges of some Waste Treatment Plants in Southern Ontario", Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 17(1); 49-56 (1977).
- Young, D.R. and T.C. Heesen, "Inputs of DDT and PCB", South California Coastal Water Research Project No. 77-1 pp. 23-30 (1977).
- Garrett, C.L., "An Overview of PCBs and their Current Status in British Columbia", Environmental Protection Service, Pacific and Yukon Region, Regional Program Report 80-16 (1983).
- 6. Munson, T.O., H.D. Palmer and J.M. Forns, "Transport of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons in the Upper Chesapeake Bay", National Conference on Polychlorinated Biphenyls, Nov. 19-21, 1975, Chicago, Illinois, NTIS Report PB 253 248 (1976).

7. Jackson, T., "PCB Time Bomb", Oceans, July Issue; 58-63 (1976).

8. Nisbet, C.T. and A.B. Sarofin, "Rates and Routes of Transport of PCBs in the Environment", Environ. Health Perspect, 1; 21-38 (1972).

- 9. Oloffs, P.C., L.J. Albright, S.Y. Szeto and J. Lau, "Factors Affecting the Behaviour of Five Chlorinated Hydrocarbons in Two Natural Waters and their Sediments, <u>J. Fish Res. Bd. Can.</u>, 30(11); 1619-1623 (1973).
- 10. Bidleman, T.F. and C.E. Olney, "Chlorinated Hydrocarbons in the Sargasso Sea Atmosphere and Surface Water," <u>Science</u>, 183(4124); 516-518 (1974).
- 11. Duce, R.A., J.G. Quinn, C.E. Olney, S.R. Piotrowicz, B.J. Ray, and T.L. Wade, "Enrichment of Heavy Metals and Organic Compounds in the Surface Microlayer of Narragansett Bay, Rhode Island., Science, 176(4031); 161-163 (1972).
- 12. Haque, R., D.W. Schmedding and V.H. Freed, "Aqueous Solubility, Adsorption and Vapour Behaviour of PCB Aroclor 1254", <u>Environ</u>. Sci. Technol., 8(2); 139-142 (1974).
- 13. Hutzinger O., S. Safe and V. Zitko, "The Chemistry of PCBs", CRC Press, Inc., Cleveland, (1974).
- 14. Haque, R. and D. Schmedding, "A Method of Measuring the Water Solubility of Hydrophobic Chemicals: Solubility of Five Polychlorinated Biphenyls", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 14; 13-18 (1975).
- 15. Wallnofer, P.R., M. Koniger and O. Hutzinger, "The Solubilities of Twenty-one Chlorobiphenyls in Water", <u>Analabs Research Notes</u>, 13; 14-19 (1973).
- 16. Duwamish Waterway, Seattle Washington. Region X, "On-Scene Coordinator Report, Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB) Spill", Sept., 13 -Oct. 31, 1974.

- 21 -

- 17. Duke, F.W., J.I. Lowe, and A.J. Wilson, Jr., "Polychlorinated Biphenyl (Aroclor 1254) in the Water, Sediment, and Biota of Escambia Bay, Florida", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 5(2); 171-181 (1970).
- 18. Environmental Protection Agency, Water Quality Criteria Document, Polychlorinated Biphenyls, NTIS Report No. PB81 - 117798 (1980).
- 19. Wildish, D.J., C.D. Metcalfe, H.M. Akagi and D.W. McLeese, "Flux of Aroclor 1254 Between Estuarine Sediments and Water", <u>Bull.</u> Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 24; 20-26 (1980).
- 20. Tofflemire, T.J., L.J. Hetling and S.O. Quinn, "PCB in the Hudson River: Sediment Distributions, Water Interactions and Dredging", paper presented at 51st Annual Conf. Water Poll'n Control Fed., Oct. 1-6, 1978.
- 21. Nadeau, R.J. and R.P. Davis, "Polychlorinated Biphenyls in the Hudson River (Hudson Falls Fort Edward, New York State)", <u>Bull.</u> Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 16(4); 436-444 (1976).
- 22. Young, D.R., D.J. McDermott and T.C. Heesen, "Polychlorinated Biphenyl Inputs to the South California Bight", Southern California Coastal Water Research Project, TM 224 (1975).
- 23. Morgan, R.P. and S.E. Sommer, "Polychlorinated Biphenyls in Baltimore Harbour Sediments", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 22; 413-419 (1979).
- 24. Garrett, C.L., "Environmental Contamination by Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs) in British Columbia - A Summary of Current Data, 1976", Environmental Protection Service, Pacific Region, Vancouver, B.C., Report No. EPS 8-PR-76-3 (1976).

- 25. Jensen, A.L., "PCB Uptake by Five Species of Fish in Lake Michigan, Green Bay of Lake Michigan, and Cayuga Lake, New York", <u>Can. J.</u> Fish. Aquat. Sci., 39; 700-709 (1982).
- 26. Thomann, R.V. and J.P. Connolly, "Model of PCB in the Lake Michigan Lake Trout Food Chain", <u>Environ. Sci. Technol.</u>, 18(2); 65-71 (1984).
- 27. Pizza, J.C. and J.M. O'Connor, "PCB Dynamics in Hudson River Striped Bass. II. Accumulation from Dietary Sources", <u>Aq. Toxicol.</u>, 3; 313-327 (1983).
- 28. Sanders, H.O. and J.H. Chandler, "Biological Magnification of Polychlorinated Biphenyl (Aroclor 1254) from Water by Aquatic Invertebrates", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 7(5); 257-263 (1972).
- 29. Mayer, F.L., P.M. Merhle and H.O. Sanders, "Residue Dynamics and Biological Effects of Polychlorinated Biphenyls in Aquatic Organisms", Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 5; 501-511 (1977).
- 30. Shaw, G.R. and D.W. Connell, "Physicochemical Properties Controlling Polychlorinated Biphenyl Concentrations in Aquatic Organisms", Environ. Sci. Technol., 18; 18-23 (1984).
- 31. Niimi, A.J. and B.G. Oliver, "Biological Half-Lives of Polychlorinated Biphenyl Congeners in Whole Fish and Muscle of Rainbow Trout", Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 40; 1388-1394 (1983).
- 32. Shaw, G.R. and D.W. Connell, "Polychlorinated Biphenyls in the Brisbane River Estuary, Australia", <u>Mar. Poll. Bull.</u>, 11; 356-358 (1980).

- 23 -

Sec. Sec.

1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -

- 33. Narbonne, J.F., "Accumulation of Polychlorinated Biphenyl (Phenoclor DP6) by Estuarine Fish", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 22; 60-64 (1979).
- 34. Wilson, A.J. and J. Forester, "Persistence of Aroclor 1254 in a Contaminated Estuary", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 19; 637-640 (1978).
- 35. Spigarelli, S.A., M.M. Thommes and W. Prepejchal, "Thermal and Metabolic Factors Affecting PCB Uptake by Adult Brown Trout", Environ. Sci. Technol., 17; 88-94 (1983).
- 36. Narbonne, J.F., "Polychlorinated Biphenyl Accumulation in Grey Mullets: Effect of Age", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 22; 65-68 (1979).
- 37. Gruger, E.H., N.L. Karrick, A.I. Davidson and T. Hruby, "Accumulation of 3,4,3',4' - Tetrachlorobiphenyl and 2,4,5,2',4',5' - and 2,4,6,2',4',6' - Hexachlorobiphenyl in Juvenile Coho Salmon", Environ. Sci. Technol., 9(2); 121-127 (1975).
- 38. Hansen, D.J., P.R. Parrish, J.I. Lowe, A.J. Wilson and P.D. Wilson, "Chronic Toxicity, Uptake and Retention of Aroclor 1254 in Two Estuarine Fishes", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 6(2); 113-119 (1971).
- 39. McLeese, D.W., C.D. Metcalfe and D.S. Pezzack, "Bioaccumulation of Chlorobiphenyls and Endrin from Food by Lobsters", <u>Bull.</u> Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 25; 161-168 (1980).
- 40. Nimmo, D.R., P.D. Wilson, R.R. Blackman and A.J. Wilson, "Polychlorinated Biphenyl Adsorbed from Sediments by Fiddler Crabs and Pink Shrimp", Nature, 231; 50-52 (1971).

- Zitko, V., "PCBs Solubilized in Water by Nonionic Surfactants for Studies of Toxicity to Aquatic Animals", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam.</u> Toxicol., 5; 279-285 (1970).
- 42. Buhler, D.R., "PCBs, Mercury, and other Heavy Metals in Relation to Fish and Aquatic Life", Western Proc. 53rd Annual Conference of the Western Association State Game and Fish Commissioners, Salt Lake City, July 10-13, 1973.
- 43. Nebeker, A.V. and F.A. Puglisi, "Effect of Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCBs) on Survival and Reproduction of <u>Daphnia</u>, <u>Gammarus</u>, and Tanytarsus", Trans. Amer. Fish. Soc., 4; 722-728 (1974).
- 44. Jensen, S., A.G. Johnels, M. Olsson and G.L Otterlind, "DDT and PCB in Marine Animals from Swedish Waters", <u>Nature</u>, 224; 247 (1969).
- 45. Zitko, V., "Polychlorinated Biphenyl and Organochlorine Pesticides in Some Freshwater and Marine Fishes", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam.</u> Toxicol., 6; 464-470 (1971).
- 46. Nebeker, A.V., T.A. Puglisi and D.L. Defoe, "Effect of PCBs on Survival and Reproduction of Fathead Minnow and Flagfish", <u>Trans.</u>
   Amer. Fish. Soc., 103(3); 562 (1974).
- 47. Addison, R.F., M.E. Zinck, and D.E. Willis, "Time and Dose Dependence of Hepatic Mixed Function Oxidase Activity in Brook Trout on PCB Residues: Implications for Biological Effects Monitoring", Environ. Poll., 25; 211-218 (1981).
- 48. Folmar, L.C. and H.O. Hodgins, "Effects of Aroclor 1254 and No. 2 Fuel Oil, Singly and in Combination, on Predator-Prey Interactions in Coho Salmon", Bull. Environ. Cont. Toxicol., 29; 24-28 (1982).

- 49. Fingerman, S.W. and M. Fingerman, "Inhibition by the PCB Aroclor 1242 of Limb Regeneration in the Fiddler Crab, in Different Salinities from which Different Numbers of Limbs have been Removed", <u>Bull.</u> Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 25; 744-750 (1980).
- 50. Niimi, A.J. "Biological and Toxicological Effects of Environmental Contaminants in Fish and their Eggs", <u>Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.</u>, 40; 306-312 (1983).
- 51. Hogan, J.W. and J.L. Brauhn, "Abnormal Rainbow Trout Fry from Eggs Containing High Residues of PCB (Aroclor 1242)", <u>Progr. Fish</u> Cult., 37; 229-230 (1975).
- 52. Jensen, S., N. Johansson and M. Olsson, "PCB: Indications of Effects on Salmon", PCB Conference, National Swedish Environment Protection Board, Stockholm, Sept. 29, 1970.
- 53. Van Westernhagen, H., H. Rosenthal, V. Dethlefsen, W. Ernst, U. Harms, and P.D. Hansen, "Bioaccumulating Substances and Reproductive Success in Baltic Flounder", <u>Aq. Toxicol.</u>, 1; 85-89 (1981).
- 54. Bowes, G.W. and I.J. Jonkel, "Presence and Distribution of PCBs in Arctic and Subarctic Food Chains", <u>J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can.</u>, 32(11); 2111 (1975).
- 55. Harvey, G.R. and W.R. Steinhauer, "Atmospheric Transport of PCBs to the North Atlantic", Atmosph. Environ., 8; 777-782 (1974).
- 56. Background to the Regulation of PCBs in Canada, Report of Task Force on PCB to the Joint Advisory Committee on Environmental Contaminants of Environment Canada, and Health and Welfare Canada (1977).

- 57. Eisenreich, S.J., B.B. Looney, J.D. Thornton, "Assessment of Airborne Organic Contaminants in the Great Lakes Ecosystem", Science Advisory Board, I.J.C. (1980).
- 58. Doskey, P.V., and A.W. Andren, "Modeling the Flux of Atmospheric PCBs across the Air/Water Interface", <u>Environ. Sci. Technol.</u>, 15(6); 705-710 (1981).
- 59. Eisenreich, S.J., B.B. Looney and J.D. Thornton, "Airborne Organic Contaminants in the Great Lakes Ecosystem", <u>Environ. Sci.</u> Technol., 15(1); 30-38 (1981).
- 60. Bumbaco, M.J., "Report on a Stock Sampling Program to Measure the Emissions of Selected Trace Organic Compounds, Particulates, Heavy Metals and HCl from the Royal Jubilee Hospital Incinerator, in Victoria, B.C., Pollution Measurement Division, EPS (April, 1983).
- 61. Carey, A.E. and J.A. Gowen, "PCBs in Agricultural and Urban Soil", in <u>Proc. of National Conference on PCBs</u>, Nov. 19-21, 1975, Chicago Illinois, pp. 195-198, EPA Report No. EPA-560/6-75-004 (1976).
- 62. Strek, H.J. and J.B. Weber, "Behaviour of Polychlorinated Biphenyls in Soils and Plants", Environ. Pollut., 28; 291-312 (1982).
- 63. Fries, G.F. and G.S. Marrow, "Metabolism of Chlorobiphenyls in Soil", Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 33; 6-12 (1984).
- 64. Falandysz, J. and P. Szefer, "Chlorinated Hydrocarbons in Fish-Eating Birds Wintering in the Gdansk Bay, Baltic Sea, 1980-81", <u>Mar.</u> Poll. Bull., 13(4); 132-135 (1982).

- 65. Niethammer, K.R., T.S. Baskett and D.H. White, "Organochlorine Residues in Three Heron Species as Related to Diet and Age", Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 33; 491-498 (1984).
- 66. Keck, G., P. Paubel and R.J. Monneret, "Organochlorine and Mercury Residues in Peregrine Falcon Eggs in France", <u>Bull. Environ.</u> Contam. Toxicol., 28; 705-709 (1982).
- 67. Jensen, S., A.G. Johnels, M. Olson and G. Otterlind, "DDT and PCB in Marine Animals from Swedish Waters", Nature, 224; 22 (1969).
- 68. Fox, G.A., A.P. Gilman, D.J. Hallett, R.J. Norstrom, F.S. Onuski, and D.B. Peakall, "Herring Gull Productivity and Toxic Chemicals in the Great Lakes in 1975", CWS Manuscript Report No. 34, Toxic Chemicals Division (1975).
- 69. Barrett, R.T., J.U. Skaare, G. Norheim, W. Vader and A. Froslie, "Persistent Organochlorines and Mercury in Eggs of Norwegian Seabirds, 1983", Environ. Poll., 39; 79-93 (1985).
- 70. Heinz, 'G.H., T.C. Endman, S.D. Haseltine and C. Stafford, "Contaminant Levels in Colonial Waterbirds from Green Bay and Lake Michigan, 1975-80", Environ. Mon. Assess., 5; 223-236 (1985).
- 71. Nisbet, I.C.T. and L.M. Reynolds, "Organochlorine Residues in Common Terns and Associated Estuarine Organisms, Masschusetts, U.S.A., 1971-81", Mar. Environ. Res., 11; 33-66 (1984).
- 72. Clausen, J., L. Braestrup, and O. Berg, "The Content of Polychlorinated Hydrocarbons in Arctic Mammals", <u>Bull. Environ. Cont.</u> Toxicol., 12(5); 529 (1974).

- 73. Aguilar, A., "Organochlorine Pollution in Sperm Whales from Temperate Waters of the Eastern North Atlantic", <u>Mar. Poll. Bull.</u>, 14(9); 349-352 (1983).
- 74. Helle, E., H. Hyuarinen, H. Pyysalo and K. Wickstrom, "Levels of Organochlorine Compounds in an Inland Seal Population in Eastern Finland", Mar. Poll. Bull., 14(7); 256-260 (1983).
- 75. Taruski, A.G., C.E. Olney and H.E. Winn, "Chlorinated Hydrocarbons in Cetaceans", J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can., 32; 2205-2209 (1975).
- 76. Takei, G.H. and G.H. Leong, "Macro-Analytical Methods Used to Analyze Tissues of the Hawaiian Monk Seal for Organochlorine Pesticides, Polychlorobiphenyls and Pentachlorophenol", <u>Bull. Environ. Cont.</u> Toxicol., 27; 489-498 (1981).
- 77. Cecil, H.C., J. Betman, R.J. Lillie and J. Verrett, "Embryotoxic and Teratogenic Effects in Unhatched Fertile Eggs from Hens Fed Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)", <u>Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.</u>, 11(6); 489-495 (1974).
- 78. Kreitzer, J.H. and G.H. Heinz, "The Effect of Sublethal Dosages of Five Pesticides and a Polychlorinated Biphenyl on the Avoidance Response of Coturnix Quail Chicks", <u>Environ. Pollut.</u>, 6; 21-29 (1974).
- 79. Ulfstrand, S., A. Sodergren, and J. Rabol, "Effect of PCB on Nocturnal Activity in Caged Robins", Nature, 231; 467-468 (1971).
- 80. Karlsson, B., B. Persson, S. Sodergren and S. Ulfstrand, "Locomotory and Dehydrogenase Activities of Red Starts Given PCB and DDT", Environ. Pollut., 7; 53-63 (1974).

- 29 -

.9.5 .

- 81. Dahlgren, R.B., R.L. Linder, and C.W. Carlson, "PCBs: Their Effects on Penned Pheasants", <u>Environ. Health Perspect</u>, 1(1); 89-101 (1972).
- 82. Tumasonis, C.F., B. Bush and F.D. Baker, "PCB Levels in Egg Yolks Associated with Embryonic Mortality and Deformity of Hatched Chicks", Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 1(4); 312-324 (1973).
- 83. Gilbertson, M., "Pollutants in Breeding Herring Gulls in the Lower Great Lakes", <u>The Can. Field Naturalist</u>, 88; 273-280 (1974).
- 84. Koeman, J.H., H.C.W. Van Veitzen-Blad, R. DeVries, and J.G. Vos, "Effects of PCB and DDE in Cormorants and Evaluation of PCB Residues from an Experimental Study", <u>J. Reprod. Fertility</u>, 19 (Suppl); 353-364 (1973).
- 85. Koeman, J.H., T. Bothof, R. DeVries, H. Van Veltzen-Blad and J.G. Vos
  "The Impact of Persistent Pollutants on Piscivorous and Molluscivorous Birds", TNO-nieuws, 27; 561-569 (1972).
- 86. Stendell, R.C., "Summary of Recent Information Regarding Effects of PCBs on Birds and Mammals", Proc. National Conf. on PCBs, Nov. 19-21, 1975 Chicago, Illinois pp. 255-256, March, 1976.
- 87. Environmental Protection Agency, "Criteria Documents for PCBs", EPA-440/9-76-021 NTIS Report No. PB-255 397 (1976).
- 88. Aulerich, R.J., R.K. Ringer and S. Iwamoto, "Reproductive Failure and Mortality in Mink Fed on Great Lake Fish", <u>J. Reprod. Fert.</u>, 19 (Suppl); 365-376 (1973).
- 89. Aulerich, R.J., R.K. Ringer, H.L. Seagran and W.G. Youatt, "Effects of Feeding Coho Saimon and Other Great Lakes Fish on Mink Reproduction", Can. J. Zool., 49; 611-616 (1971).

- 90. Platonow, N.S. and L.H. Karstad, "Dietary Effects of Polychlorinated Biphenyls on Mink", <u>Can. J. Comp. Med.</u>, 37; 391-400 (1973).
- 91. DeLong, R.I., W.G. Gilmartin, and J.G. Simpson, "Premature Births in California Sea Lions: Association with High Organochlorine Pollutant Residue Levels", <u>Science</u>, 181,; 1168-1170 (1973).
- 92. Helle, E., M. Olsson, and S. Jensen, "DDT and PCB Levels and Reproduction in Ringed Seal from the Bothinian Bay", <u>Ambio</u>, 5; 188-189 (1976).
- 93. Ringer, R.K., R.J. Aulerich and M. Zabik, "Effect of Dietary Polychlorinated Biphenyls on Growth and Reproduction of Mink", <u>Proc.</u> Amer. Chem. Soc. 12(1); 149-154 (1972).
- 94. Linder, R.E., T.B. Gaines and R.D. Kimbrough, "The Effect of Polychlorinated Biphenyls on Rat Reproduction", <u>Food Cosmet.</u> Toxicol., 12; 63-77 (1974).
- 95. Kimbrough, R.D., R.E. Linder and T.B. Gaines, "Morphological Changes in Livers of Rats Fed Polychlorinated Biphenyls", <u>Arch. Environ.</u> Health, 25(5); 354-364 (1972).
- 96. Goldstein, J.A., P. Hickman, V.W. Burse and H. Bergman, "A Comparative Study of Two Polychlorinated Biphenyl Mixtures (Aroclor 1242 and 1016) Containing 42% Chlorine on Induction of Hepatic Porphyria and Drug Metabolizing Enzymes", <u>Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.</u>, 32; 461-473 (1975).
- 97. Goldstein, J.A., P. Hickman and D.L. Jue, "Experimental Hepatic Porphyria Induced by Polychlorinated Biphenyls", <u>Toxicol. Appl.</u> Pharmacol., 27(2); 437-448 (1974).

- 31 -

4- 1 .

- 98. Vos, J.G. and T. DeRoij, "Immunosuppressive Activity of a Polychlorinated Biphenyl Preparation on the Humoral Immune Response in Guinea Pigs", Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol., 21(4); 549-555 (1972).
- 99. Vos, J.G. and L. Van Drill-Grootenhuis, "PCB-Induced Suppression of the Humoral and Cell-meditated Immunity in Guinea Pigs", <u>Sci.</u> Total Environ., 1(3); 289-302 (1972).
- 100. Ito, N., H. Nagasaki, M. Arai, S. Makiura, S. Sugihara and K. Hirao, "Histopathological Studies on Liver Tumorigenesis Induced in Mice by Technical Polychlorinated Biphenyls and its Promoting Effect on Liver Tumors Induced By Benzene Hexachloride", <u>J. Nat'l</u> Cancer Inst., 51(5); 1637-1646 (1973).
- 101. Kimbrough, R.D., R.A. Squire, R.E. Linder, J.D. Strandberg, R.J. Montali and V.W. Burse, "Induction of Liver Tumors in Sherman Strain Female Rats by Polychlorinated Biphenyl Aroclor 1260", <u>J.</u> Nat'l Cancer Inst., 55(6); 1453-1459 (1975).